I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Bryent Finch, a police officer for the City of

Tumwater_ sufferPd iniury when hp was hit by a Thurstnn County

Sheriff's Office police canine. On the night of November 14, 2010, 

Officer Finch was dispatched to investigate a burglary in progress at

the abandoned Olympia Brewery located in Tumwater, Washington. 

Deputy Rod Ditrich and K -9 Rex of the Thurston County Sheriff's

Office assisted Officer Finch with the investigation. K -9 Rex tracked

the suspect, who was eventually located in a poorly lit room. Upon

seeing the suspect, Officer Finch commanded the suspect to show

his hands. Moments after giving this command, Officer Finch was

bit in the testicle and leg by K -9 Rex causing his injuries. 

On June 6, 2012, Bryent Finch, along with his wife Patricia, 

filed a complaint for damages against Thurston County, the Thurston

County Sheriff's Office, Rod Ditrich and " Jane Doe" Ditrich. The

Finches brought claims for negligence, intentional infliction of

emotional distress, loss of consortium, and strict liability under RCW

16. 08. 040. RCW 16. 08. 040 provides that the owner of any dog

which shall bite any person shall be strictly liable for their injuries. 

On June 7, 2012, the day after the Finches' complaint was

filed, an amendment to RCW 16. 08. 040 went into effect. The
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amended statute provides that strict liability " does not apply to the

lawful application of a police dog... ". 

Both parties filed cross - motions for partial summary Judgment

on the issue of whether Thurston County was strictly liable for the

dog bite injuries pursuant to RCW 16. 08.040. On November 25, 

2013, a hearing was held and the trial court granted Thurston

County' s motion and denied the Finches' motion. The Finches

subsequently filed a motion for voluntary dismissal of their remaining

claims. A notice of appeal was filed regarding the trial court's

summary judgment ruling. 

At issue in this appeal is whether Thurston County is strictly

liable under RCW 16. 08. 040 for the dog bite injuries to Officer Finch. 

Appellants contend that the amendment to RCW 16. 08.040 applies

prospectively only. Appellants rely upon a line of Washington

appellate decisions that held statutory amendments are presumed to

operate prospectively only, absent contrary legislative intent. 

Appellants further contend that even if the amendment were

applied retrospectively, the dog bite injury to Officer Finch was not

the result of the " lawful application of a police dog" under RCW

16. 08. 040( 2). As there are no Washington cases interpreting this

issue, Appellants rely on a number of federal cases that have

2- 



interpreted RCW 16. 08. 040. These cases demonstrate that

municipalities are strictly liable where an innocent person is

mistakenly hitten by n nolice don_ 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in granting Respondents' 
motion for partial summary judgment and denying
Appellants' motion for partial summary judgment. 

Issue Presented: Where the amendment to RCW 16. 08. 040

a) did not take effect until after the Finches filed their lawsuit and

case law requires the amendment to be applied prospectively; and

b) does not shield Thurston County from liability for Officer Finch' s

injuries because the dog bite was not the result of the lawful

application of a police dog, did the trial court err in granting

Respondents' motion for partial summary judgment and denying

Appellants' motion for partial summary judgment? 

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. The Iniury to Officer Finch

On November 14, 2010, at approximately 7 p. m., Officer

Bryent Finch, of the City of Tumwater Police Department, was

dispatched to a possible burglary in progress at the abandoned

Olympia Brewery located at 100 Custer Way in Tumwater, 

Washington. CP 281. Officer Hollinger of the Tumwater Police
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Department was also dispatched to the scene. CP 281. Several

recent break -ins had occurred at the brewery where copper wire was

removed frnm insirlP the huildinn ( P 9R7 ThP ahanrinnPrl hrAwArV

consists of several buildings located on the north and south sides of

Custer Way. CP 119. 

Officer Finch was the first to arrive on scene and made contact

with a security guard employed by the owner of the property. CP

281. The security guard informed Officer Finch that a window had

been broken in the large building on the south side of Custer Way, 

and it was unclear if anyone was still inside. CP 119, 281. Officer

Finch then contacted Officer Hollinger by radio and requested

permission to have a police K -9 unit brought to the scene. CP 281. 

In response, Deputy Rod Ditrich of the Thurston County

Sheriff's Office was subsequently dispatched to the brewery along

with his police K -9 named Rex. CP 287. Pursuant to an interlocal

cooperation agreement, the Tumwater Police Department and

Thurston County Sheriff's Office are authorized to provide mutual aid

and assistance in law enforcement operations. CP 162 -69. 

The officers formulated a plan whereby Officer Finch, Deputy

Ditrich, and K -9 Rex would search the building while Officer Hollinger

and the brewery security guard would hold a perimeter around the



exterior of the building in case someone attempted to flee the scene

while the search was in progress. CP 287. 

OfFirar Finch anri Mani itv nitrirh nninpd arr.PCC into the

building using a key provided by the security guard. CP 281. Upon

entering the building, Deputy Ditrich gave three very loud

announcements stating, " This is the Sherrif's Office, this building is

going to be searched by a Police K9, announce your presence, give

up or you will be bit!" CP 287. After waiting and receiving no

response, the officers proceeded with searching the building. CP

287. 

At the time of the search, it was dark outside and there was

no electricity or lighting in the building. CP 120. The interior of the

building was pitch black with zero visibility. CP 120. There were

large holes in the floor where beer vats had been removed creating

dangerous pitfalls of six to seven feet. CP 121. Officer Finch and

Deputy Ditrich used their flashlights during the search. CP 120. 

Officer Finch used his flashlight intermittently to avoid " backlighting" 

Deputy Ditrich and giving away the Ditrich' s position to a potential

suspect. CP 120. 

During the search K -9 Rex was not on a leash and was

running in and out of rooms and between the two officers. CP 281. 
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Officer Finch was uncomfortable about the fact that K -9 Rex was not

on a leash as he had conducted several building searches with police

K -9 units hPfnrP anrd this was the first time he mild rememher a

police dog being off leash. CP 281. A K -9 handler is responsible for

keeping his or her police canine under control at all times. WAC 139- 

05. 915(5). 

K -9 Rex eventually detected the suspect's scent and

proceeded to a room at the front entryway of the building. CP 287. 

K -9 Rex entered the room first, followed by Deputy Ditrich, with

Officer Finch entering the room last. CP 122. Consistent with his

training, Officer Finch entered the room and immediately moved to

his left, away from Deputy Ditrich. CP 122. The purpose of

separating is to prevent a potential suspect from keying in on a single

location. CP 122. Due to the darkness, Officer Finch could not see

K -9 Rex. CP 122. 

Shortly after entering the room, Officer Finch heard Deputy

Ditrich say "here, here, here." CP 122. Officer Finch interpreted this

statement to be an indication that Deputy Ditrich had located the

suspect and was signaling the suspect' s location to Officer Finch. 

CP 123. In actuality, Deputy Ditrich was commanding K -9 Rex to

return to Ditrich' s location. CP 287. Upon hearing the command, 



Officer Finch looked to his right and spotted the suspect trying to hide

in a small cubby hole approximately fifty feet away in the northeast

corner of the room. CP 282. Officer Finch commandpri the . usnect_ 

Hands, show me your hands!" CP 282. While giving this command, 

Officer Finch was standing approximately seven to ten feet to the left

of Deputy Ditrich. CP 123, 282. 

Within seconds of telling the suspect to show his hands, 

Officer Finch was bit in the right testicle and right inner thigh by K -9

Rex. CP 282. Officer Finch dropped his gun and immediately began

screaming as K -9 Rex continued to bite him. CP 282, 287. He yelled

several times for Deputy Ditrich to remove the dog. CP 282, 287. 

Deputy Ditrich first ordered the suspect not to move, and then had to

physically pull K -9 Rex off of Officer Finch to get the dog to release

his bite. CP 282. Once Deputy Ditrich had gained control of K -9 Rex

he proceeded to place the suspect in handcuffs and escort him out

of the building. CP 287. 

Officer Finch was able to walk out to his patrol car and drive

himself to the Providence St. Peter Hospital emergency room in

Olympia. CP 283. The urologist examined his injuries and advised

Officer Finch that he would need to be treated at Harborview Medical

Center in Seattle. CP 283. 
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Officer Finch was transported to Harborview by ambulance

where the urologist there determined that scrotal surgery would be

required. CP 283. The don hite had caused the riaht testicle to

rupture and the urologist removed approximately one quarter of the

testicle. CP 283. Following the surgery, Officer Finch was

discharged from Harborview five days later on November 16, 2010. 

CP 284. 

B. History of Relevant Statutes

in 1941, the Legislature enacted a statute providing that the

owner of a dog that bites another person will be strictly liable for

injuries suffered. Laws of 1941, Ch. 77, § 1; Hansen v. Sipe, 34 Wn. 

App. 888, 890, 664 P. 2d 1295 ( 1983) ( "RCW 16. 08. 040 creates strict

liability in a dog owner where the dog bite victim is ' lawfully in or on

a private place including the property of the owner of such dog ... "'). 

This statute was codified as RCW 16. 08. 040 and reads as follows: 

The owner of any dog which shall bite any person while
such person is in or on a public place or lawfully in or
on a private place including the property of the owner
of such dog, shall be liable for such damages as may
be suffered by the person bitten, regardless of the

former viciousness of such dog or the owner's

knowledge of such viciousness. 

RCW 16. 08.040( 1). At the time this statute was enacted, the state

and municipalities were protected by the doctrine of sovereign
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immunity under Article 2, § 26 of the Washington State Constitution: 

t]he legislature shall direct by law, in what manner, and in what

courts_ suits may he hrnuaht against the state_" 

However, the Legislature waived sovereign immunity for the

State in 1961. When the State waived immunity and assumed

liability, the immunity of its civil division, the county, vanished also. 

Kelso v. City of Tacoma, 63 Wn. 2d 913, 918, 390 P.2d 2 ( 1964). 

Although effective in 1961, the abrogation of sovereign immunity for

municipalities was not codified until 1967. RCW 4. 96. 010. RCW

4.96.010( 1) provides, in part, as follows: 

All local governmental entities, whether acting in a
governmental or proprietary capacity, shall be liable for
damages arising out of their tortious conduct, or the
tortious conduct of their past or present officers, 

employees, or volunteers while performing or in good
faith purporting to perform their official duties, to the
same extent as if they were a private person or
corporation. 

In 2012, RCW 16. 08. 040 was amended to add the following

subsection: "This section does not apply to the lawful application of

a police dog, as defined in RCW 4.24.410." RCW 16. 08. 040( 2); 

Laws of 2012, Ch. 94, § 1. The 2012 amendment was passed as

part of Substitute House Bill 2191 ( "SHB 2191 "), which also amended

RCW 9A.76. 200, a law that criminalizes the act of causing harm to a



police dog, accelerant detection dog, or police horse. CP 298 -99. 

The amendment to RCW 9A.76.200 authorized civil penalties, in

addition to criminal penalties. for harming or killina a police dog. 

Laws of 2012, Ch. 94, § 2. 

SHB 2191 was originally sponsored by multiple members of

the Legislature including Representative Ann Rivers, who was the

prime sponsor of the bill and has since become a member of the

Washington State Senate. CP 178, 295, 316 -17. On January 18, 

2012, and January 27, 2012, hearings regarding SHB 2191 were

held before the House Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness

Committee. CP 171 -93. Two additional hearings regarding SHB

2191 were held before the Senate Judiciary Committee on February

21, 2012, and February 23, 2012. CP 194 -209. 

The majority of the discussion at these hearings addressed

the proposed amendment to RCW 9A.76. 200. See CP 171 -209. 

Representative Rivers testified at the hearing on January 18, 2012, 

and again at the hearing on February 21, 2012. Id. She provided

the following testimony at the hearing on February 21, 2012: 

This bill arises from the fact that in Clark County we' ve
lost two police dogs and we' re gravely concerned
about that. Also concerned in — the cottage industry
that's popping up where criminals can sit in jail and — 
write frivolous lawsuits against municipalities for — 
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because dogs, police dogs, are labeled vicious animals

for doing the job that we ask them to do. 

CP 197. 

SHB 2191 received unanimous approval from the House and

the Senate and the bill was signed by the Governor on March 29, 

2012. CP 297 -99. The effective date of the amendment to RCW

16. 08. 040 was June 7, 2012. CP 297. 

C. Trial Court Action

On June 6, 2012, the day before the amendment went into

effect, Appellants filed their Complaint for Damages seeking relief

under RCW 16. 08. 040, as well as alleging other causes of action not

at issue in this appeal. CP 334 -339. On October 11, 2013, 

Appellants filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the sole

issue of whether Thurston County was strictly liable for Officer

Finch' s injuries under RCW 16. 08. 040. CP 316 -26. On October 28, 

2013, Respondents filed a cross Motion for Partial Summary

Judgment on the same issue and a hearing was held on November

25, 2013. CP 10 -13, 257 -77. 

At the commencement of the hearing, Judge Sheldon

indicated her concern with citations by both parties in their briefing to

unpublished cases from the Federal District Court: 
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I was also concerned about quite a few unpublished

cases that were cited, and I think by each side. And

so, I' m — I haven' t read any of those. I don' t believe

that they' re appropriate for the Court to consider. If you
have snmP n1tPrnativP authnrity I nPrtainly wni drl IistPn

to that. 

RP 3 at 4 -9. Appellants reiterated the following footnote from their

briefing explaining the applicable rules that permit citation to

unpublished federal cases: 

General Rule 14. 1( b) provides that "A party may cite as
an authority an opinion designated ' unpublished,' ` not

for publication,' ' non - precedential,' ' not precedent,' or

the like that has been issued by any court from a
jurisdiction other than Washington state, only if citation
to that opinion is permitted under the law of the

jurisdiction of the issuing court. The party citing the
opinion shall file and serve a copy of the opinion with
the brief or other paper in which the opinion is cited." 

Ninth Circuit Rule 36 -3( b) provides that " Unpublished

dispositions and orders of this Court issued on or after

January 1, 2007 may be cited to the courts of this circuit
in accordance with FRAP 32. 1." " Ninth Circuit Rule 36- 

3 does not prohibit citation to or reliance on

unpublished District Court decisions, which are, like

published District Court opinions, only persuasive

authority." C.B. v. Sonora Sch. Dist., 691 F. Supp.2d
1123, 1138 ( E. D. Cal. 2009). 1 also consulted with

Jeanne Marie Clavere from the WSBA Ethics Line and

she informed me that, so long as I was acting within the
court rules, the Rules of Professional Conduct do not

prohibit citation to unpublished opinions. 

CP 323; RP 3 at 10 -20. Despite the fact that neither GR 14. 1 nor

Ninth Circuit Rule 36 -3 state that unpublished opinions are not to be
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considered as persuasive authority, Respondents informed the trial

court as follows: 

ThP rule that rAnnP11ant .q' 1 C; nunsPl rinim. allnws fnr

this also states that the — if they are cited, they are not
persuasive authority. And so you can cite them, but it

also instructs you that they' re not persuasive authority, 
so I don' t know how you consider them or what you

consider them for. 

RP 3 at 22 -25, RP 4 at 1. Ninth Circuit Rule 36 -3( a) states that

u] npublished dispositions and orders of this Court are not

precedent... ". Nowhere does the rule state that unpublished

decisions cannot be considered as persuasive authority. 

Ultimately, the Court made the following decision regarding

the unpublished cases: 

Well, as I indicated, the Court didn' t review those

unpublished cases]. I was not aware of the court rule

that you've cited, 14. 1, which would allow that to be

done from another jurisdiction. I don' t find that any type
of unpublished authority is persuasive, so I' m not going
to go back and read them. 

RP 4 at 8 -13. 

The parties then proceeded to present their arguments which

centered on two issues: ( 1) whether the 2012 amendment to RCW

16. 08. 040 applies retrospectively or prospectively only; and ( 2) 

whether the dog bite injury to Officer Finch was the result of the

lawful application of a police dog" pursuant to RCW 16. 08. 040( 2). 
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RP 4 -14. At the end of argument, Judge Sheldon granted

Respondents' motion and denied Appellants' motion and provided

the followina reasoninn- 

The Court did have the opportunity to read all the
materials that were provided, with the exception of

what I said earlier about the unpublished cases, and

now has listened to argument, counter - motions on

today

The Court will grant the defendants' motion for partial

summary judgment, will deny the plaintiffs' motion for
partial summary judgment. The Court — and I don' t

need to make findings because it' s a summary
judgment, but just to explain my ruling. When the

underlying statute, 16 — that is now codified as

16. 08. 040 was adopted in 1941, at that time state and

municipalities had sovereign immunity. And it was not

until 1961 that the State waived that and 1967 that it

became applicable to municipalities. 

The amendment that became before the legislature

and was adopted in 19 — or, strike that — 2010, the

Court will find, was curative and will be applied

retroactively. With regard to the argument on the lawful
application of a police dog, the Court does find that
where a police dog is being used in a situation such as
this where the police dog is being used to aid an officer
in searching an area, that's one thing, as opposed to
having a police dog who normally goes home at night
with their handler, getting out of the back yard and
biting the neighbor. That in no way was the dog
working at that point. 

RP 14 -15. 
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IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The sole issue in this rasp is whPthPrthP. trial rnurt's summary

judgment decision was proper. The appellate court reviews a trial

court's summary judgment decision de novo, performing the same

inquiry as the trial court. Shoulberg v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of

Jefferson Cnty., 169 Wn. App. 173, 177, 280 P. 3d 491 ( 2012) review

denied, 175 Wn.2d 1024, 291 P. 3d 253 (2012). 

B. The amendment to RCW 16. 08.040 applies prospectively
only. 

The question of whether a statute operates retrospectively or

prospectively is one of legislative intent. Pape v. Dept of Labor & 

Indus., 43 Wn.2d 736, 741, 264 P.2d 241 ( 1953). In determining

such intent, the courts have evolved a strict rule of construction

against a retrospective operation, and indulge in the presumption

that the legislature intended statutes or amendments thereto to

operate prospectively only. Id. In other words, absent contrary

legislative intent, statutes are presumed to operate prospectively

only. Washington Waste Sys., Inc. v. Clark Cy., 115 Wn.2d 74, 78, 

794 P.2d 508 ( 1990). A statutory amendment is like any other

statute and is presumed to apply prospectively only. Olesen v. 
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State, 78 Wn. App. 910, 913, 899 P.2d 837 ( 1995). In construing

revised statutes, courts must observe great caution to avoid giving

an effect that was not contemplated by the Legislature. Amburn v. 

Daily, 81 Wn.2d 241, 245, 501 P.2d 178 ( 1972). 

An amendment may only be retroactively applied under one

of three circumstances: ( 1) if the Legislature intended retroactive

application; ( 2) if the amendment is clearly curative; or ( 3) if the

amendment is remedial. Id. 

1. The Legislature did not intend for the amendment to

RCW 16.08.040 to be applied retrospectively. 

In determining legislative intent, courts may look to the

express language of the statute, the purpose of the statute, and any

legislative statement of strong public policy that would be served by

retroactive application. Ferndale v. Friberg, 107 Wn.2d 602, 605, 

732 P. 2d 143 ( 1987); In re Marriage of MacDonald, 104 Wn.2d 745, 

748, 709 P.2d 1196 ( 1985). 

The express language of RCW 16. 08.040(2) does not

indicate that the amendment is to be applied retroactively. On the

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