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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The County agrees that this court' s standard of review of the trial

court' s summary judgment rulings and its interpretation of relevant statutes is

de novo. Berrocal v. Fernandez, 155 Wn.2d 585, 590, 121 P.3d 82 ( 2005), 

This court performs the same inquiry as the trial court and considers all facts

and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, 

1 The County is filing a supplemental designation of clerk' s papers to include
the Finches' motion to voluntarily dismiss their negligence and outrage claims along with
the trial court' s order granting that motion. These supplemental clerk' s papers are not yet

available, and consequently the County provides a copy of these documents as Appendix
A to this brief. 
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Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P. 3d 1068 ( 2002); CR 56. 

When construing a statute, the court' s objective is to ascertain and carry out

the legislature' s intent. Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass 'n, 169 Wn.2d

516, 526, 243 P,3d 1283 ( 2010). 

B. STRICT LIABILITY DOES NOT APPLY TO POLICE DOGS

In 1941, the Legislature enacted a statute imposing strict liability on

the owners of dogs that bite other persons: 

1) The owner of any dog which shall bite any person
while such person is in or on a public place including the
property of the owner of such dog, shall be liable for such
damages as may be suffered by the person bitten, regardless of
the former viciousness of such dog or the owner' s knowledge
of such viciousness. 

RCW 16.08.040 ( 1). In discerning the legislative intent of a statute, the court

should consider its historical and chronological context, as well as the

statute' s interplay with other related statutes. Dept. of Transportation v. 

State Employees' Ins. Bd., 97 Wn.2d 454, 461, 645 P. 2d 1076 ( 1982). When

analyzing legislative intent, the court presumes that the legislature is aware

of long- standing judicial doctrine. MW v. Dept. of Social and Health

Services, 149 Wn.2d 589, 596- 97, 70 P. 3d 954 ( 2003). 
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1. Because Sovereign Immunity Had Not Been
Waived When RCW 16.08.040 ( 1) Was Originally
Enacted In 1941, The Statute Was Not Intended to

Extend To Police Dogs

Under the doctrine of sovereign immunity, the government cannot be

sued without its consent. D'Donoghue v. State, 66 Wn.2d 787, 789, 405

P. 2d 258 ( 1965). Only the Legislature has the power to waive sovereign

immunity: " The legislature shall direct by law in what manner and in what

courts suits may be brought against the State." Wash, Const., Art. II, § 26. 

In 1941, the Legislature had not enacted any waiver of sovereign immunity, 

either for the State or for municipalities. The Legislature did not enact a

statutory waiver of the State' s sovereign immunity until 1961. RCW

4.92.090. It enacted a nearly identical waiver for local governmental

entities, such as Thurston County, six years later in 1967. RCW 4.96.010. 

Thus, when the dog bite strict liability statute was originally enacted, 

sovereign immunity was still the law of the land. See Michael Tardif and

Rob McKenna, Washington' s 45 -Year Experiment in Governmental

Liability, Seattle U. Law Rev. 1, 5 -6 ( 2005) ( noting that prior to the waiver

of sovereign immunity, "[ t]he primary areas of municipal immunity were

governmental functions, such as police, parks, and health. "). 

Given that the government could not be liable under state tort law for

police activities in 1941, the Legislature had no reason to exclude police
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dogs from the scope of strict liability under the statute. At the time, the

Legislature was aware that sovereign immunity would preclude any suit

against the government, such as one for personal injuries inflicted by a police

dog. Thus, the clear legislative intent of RCW 16.08.040( 1) when it was

enacted in 1941 was that strict liability did not extend to police dogs. 

2. There Has Never Been A Waiver Of The

Government' s Sovereign Immunity To Strict

Liability Claims

As explained above, the Legislature enacted waivers of sovereign

immunity for the State of Washington and local governmental entities in

Washington in 1961 and 1967 respectively. RCW 4.92.090; RCW 4.96.010. 

Although this statutory waiver of the sovereign immunity held by

municipalities is broad, it is not unlimited: 

All local governmental entities, whether acting in a

governmental or proprietary capacity, shall be liable for

damages arising out of their tortious conduct, or the tortious
conduct of their past or present officers, employees, or

volunteers while performing or in good faith purporting to
perform their official duties, to the same extent as if they were
a private person or corporation. Filing a claim for damages
within the time allowed by law shall be a condition precedent
to the commencement of any action claiming damages. The

laws specifying the content of such claims shall be liberally
construed so that substantial compliance will be deemed

satisfactory. 
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RCW 4.96.010( 1) ( emphasis added). The waiver of liability is limited to

actions for damages arising out of " tortious conduct," a tern that is not

defined in the statute. 

A] waiver of sovereign immunity must be ` unequivocally

expressed' in statutory text." Harrell v. State, 170 Wn. App. 386, 403, 285

P. 3d 159 ( 2012) ( quoting Fed Aviation Admin. v. Cooper, -- U.S. - -, 132 S. 

Ct. 1441, 1448, 182 L.Ed.2d 497 ( 2012)), review granted, 170 Wn.2d 1011, 

297 P. 3d 706 ( 2013). " When the government consents to be sued, the waiver

is strictly construed and not enlarged beyond what the language requires." 

Klickitat County v. State, 71 Wn. App. 760, 765, 862 P.2d 629 ( 1993) ( citing

United States v. Nordic Village, Inc., 503 U.S. 30, 112 S. Ct. 1011, 117

L.Ed.2d 181 ( 1992)). The Finches cite no authority holding that strict liability

claims under RCW 16.08. 040( 1) qualify as claims arising out of "tortious

conduct" for purposes of the above statute. 

a. Strict Liability Is Not Premised On Conduct

The dictionary definition of " conduct" is " the way that a person

behaves in a particular place or situation" or " the way that something is

managed or directed. "
2

Unlike other theories of liability, such as negligence

and intentional tort theories, strict liability theories are not premised on a

defendant' s conduct: 

2 Merriam- Webster Online. Retrieved May 20, 2014, from http:// www.merriam- 
webster.com/dictionary/coriduet. 
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Negligence and strict liability are not mutually exclusive
because they differ in focus: negligence focuses upon the

conduct of the manufacturer while strict liability focuses
upon the product and the consumer' s expectation. 

Davis v, Globe Mach. Mfg. Co., Inc., 102 Wn.2d 68, 73 -74, 684 P. 2d 692

1984). 

Even if strict liability for ownership of a dog that inflicts a bite could

be construed as a tort, the Legislature has not made an unequivocal waiver of

sovereign immunity to strict liability claims in RCW 16. 08. 040( 1), because

these claims are not premised on " conduct." Rather, strict liability claims

under RCW 16.08. 040( 1) are premised on mere ownership of a dog that

inflicts a bite. Under the strict liability statute, liability arises when a dog

inflicts a bite, regardless of any culpable conduct by the owner. Thus, the

claims that the Finches seek to assert against the County do not arise out of

tortious conduct," and there has been no waiver of the government' s

sovereign immunity to them. 

b. Strict Liability Under RCW 16. 08.040 Is A
Special Statutory Remedy In Derogation
Of The Common Law

Additionally, the strict liability provided for under RCW 16. 08.040

does not qualify as " tortious conduct" for purposes of the government' s

waiver of sovereign immunity, because it is a special statutory remedy rather

than one that existed at coimnon law. Washington courts have held
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repeatedly that other special statutory causes of action do not fall within the

ambit of " tortious conduct" under the Legislature' s waivers of sovereign

immunity. See, e.g., Wilson v. City ofSeattle, 122 Wn.2d 814, 823, 863 P. 2d

1336 ( 1993) ( holding that claim for damages under RCW 64.40.020 caused

by delay in processing permit application did not constitute " tortious

conduct "); Rains v. State, 100 Wn.2d 660, 67 -68, 674 P. 2d 65 ( 1983) ( waiver

of sovereign immunity in RCW 4.92.090 was not sufficiently broad to waive

the State' s sovereign immunity to suits under 42 U.S. C. § 1983); Wright v. 

Terrell, 162 Wn.2d 192, 196, 170 P. 3d 570 (2007) (unfair labor practice claim

under RCW 41. 56 did not constitute tort claim for purposes of RCW 4.96); 

Harrell, 170 Wn. App. at 402 ( State' s statutory waiver of sovereign immunity

did not include claims under federal Americans with Disabilities Act); see

also Seattle Prof Engineering Employees Assoc. v, Boeing Co., 139 Wn.2d

824, 838, 991 P. 2d 1126( 2000) ( minimum wage act violations were not

tortious conduct" for purposes of statute of limitations). 

In Wilson, the Washington Supreme Court held that a claim for

damages under RCW 64.40.020 for the government' s delay in processing a

permit application did not constitute " tortious conduct" for purposes of RCW

4.96, et. seq. Wilson, 122 Wn.2d at 823. The court' s analysis turned on the

fact that the remedy was a statutory one that did not exist at common law: 
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RCW 64.40.020 is not merely a codification of preexisting
common law tort remedies, but is a new cause of action not

previously available. The statute expressly states the
remedies provided are in addition to any other remedies
provided by law. RCW 64.40.040. See Pleas v. Seattle, 49

Wn. App. 825, 841 n.3, 746 P. 2d 823 ( 1987) ( stating RCW
64.40 " is a clear break with the past "), rev' d on other

grounds, 112 Wn.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 ( 1989). 

Id. 

Similarly, strict liability under RCW 16.08. 040 is not simply a

codification of common law tort remedies. While a common law formulation

of strict liability for dog owners existed prior to the enactment of RCW

16. 08.040, common law strict liability required a showing that the dog owner

either knew or should have known that the dog had dangerous propensities

before liability could arise. Beeler v. Hickman, 50 Wn. App. 746, 751, 750

P.2d 1282 ( 1988). RCW 16. 08. 040, which eliminates the need to show the

owner' s knowledge of dangerous propensities, is therefore in derogation of

the common law and strictly construed. Id. Common law strict liability

remains a separate cause of action in Washington, but it must be plead

separately. Id. at 753 -54 ( refusing to review summary judgment on theory of

common law strict liability, because the plaintiff did not plead it in her

complaint). Thus, the statutory remedy in RCW 16. 08.040 is available in

addition to those already existing under the common law. Given that the

special statutory remedy under RCW 16. 08. 040 goes beyond any tort
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remedies that were available at common law, it cannot be considered " tortious

conduct" for purposes of RCW 4.96.010 under the Washington Supreme

Court' s reasoning in Wilson. 

c. Strict Liability Is Inconsistent With The
Public Duty Doctrine

Moreover, strict liability is inconsistent with the public duty doctrine, 

which Washington courts have utilized to determine the scope of municipal

tort liability ever since the Legislature' s limited statutory waiver of sovereign

lint-ramify: ` The Washington Supreme Court has adopted the ` public duty

doctrine' for application in tort cases against state entities." David K. 

DeWolf and Keller W. Allen, 16 Wash. Prac., Tort Law and Practice § 14. 7

2012 — 2013 Supplement) ( citing cases). " 4.96.010, which abolished

sovereign immunity, is qualified by the public duty doctrine." Babcock v. 

Mason County Fire Dist. No. 6, 101 Wn. App. 677, 684, 5 P. 3d 750 ( 2000), 

affirmed, 144 Wn.2d 774, 30 P. 3d 1261 ( 2001) ( noting that "[ t]he ` public

duty doctrine' has modified the traditional concept of sovereign immunity."). 

In applying the public duty doctrine to determine the scope of the

goverrunent' s liability, Washington courts have recognized that the intent of

RCW 496.010 was to subject municipalities to " orthodox negligence

principles." See, e.g., J & B Development Co., Inc. v. King County, 29 Wn. 

App. 942, 952, 631 P.2d 1002 ( 1981); Ruff v. King County, 72 Wn. App. 
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289, 294, 865 P.2d 5 ( 1993), reversed on other grounds, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887

P. 2d 886 ( 1995); see also Evangelical United Brethren Church ofAdna v. 

State, 67 Wn.2d 246, 253, 407 P. 2d 440 ( 1966) ( " Negligent conduct, within

accepted tort concepts, must be present. "). 

Under the doctrine, the plaintiff must establish that the government

owed him an individual duty of care rather than a duty owed to the public at

large. Munich v. Skagit Emergency Comm. Center, 175 Wn.2d 871, 878, 

288 P. 3d 328 ( 2012) ( " Le., a duty owed to all is a duty owed to none. "). In

order to state an actionable claim, a plaintiff must show that his action falls

within four exceptions to the doctrine.
3

Given that the public duty doctrine

is grounded in the negligence concepts of duty, breach, causation, and

foreseeability, strict liability is completely inconsistent with it. The fact that

strict liability cannot be reconciled with the public duty doctrine is further

evidence that the Legislature never intended municipalities to be subject to

strict liability. 

d. The Authorities The Finches Rely Upon Do
Not Establish A Waiver Of Sovereign

Immunity To Strict Liability Claims

Here, as in the trial court, the Finches cite Savage v. State, 127 Wn.2d

434, 899 P.2d 1270 ( 1995), to argue that the Legislature' s waiver of sovereign

3
The public duty doctrine is subject to four exceptions: ( 1) the legislative intent

exception; ( 2) the failure to enforce exception; ( 3) the rescue doctrine; and ( 4) the special

relationship exception. Gorman v. Pierce County, 176 Wn. App. 63, 75, 307 P. 3d 795
2013) ( citations omitted). 
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immunity in RCW 4.96.010 extends to claims for strict liability. Appellants' 

Brief at 22 -23; CP 89 -91. However, because Savage involved only

negligence claims, it does not support the Finches' argument. In Savage the

State of Washington was sued by a woman who had been raped by a parolee, 

who had a history of sexual assaults and violence, and who was under

supervision by the Department of Corrections at the time. Id. at 436 -37. In

rejecting an argument by the State that the personal qualified immunity of a

parole officer extended to the State as his employer, the Washington Supreme

Court noted the broad waiver of the State' s sovereign immunity. Id, at 445- 

446. However, prior to Savage the court had already recognized the existence

of a duty owed by the State in this context, and there was no question that the

breach of this duty constituted " tortious conduct" under the State' s statutory

waiver of sovereign immunity. Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 219, 822

P.2d 243 ( 1992). 

In contract, there is no negligence action before this court. The

Finches chose to abandon their negligence claims against the County when

they voluntarily dismissed them prior to this appeal. The sole claim pursued

by the Finches in this appeal is one for strict liability. Contrary to the

Finches' assertions, imposing any type of strict liability on the government is

completely unprecedented in our state courts' jurisprudence. 
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3. The Trial Court Correctly Gave Retroactive
Application To RCW 16. 08. 040( 2), Which

Expressly Exempts Police Dogs From The Rule of
Strict Liability

In 2012, seventy -one years after the initial passage of RCW

16,08,040( 1), the Legislature passed an amendment to the strict liability

statute through SHB 2191, which was eventually codified as RCW

16, 08.040(2). 4 The 2012 bill had two components. First, it added a section to

RCW 9A.76.200 that provided for civil monetary penalties against

individuals who harm police dogs. More relevant to the case at bar, the

amendment also expressly clarified that lawfully used police dogs were not

subject to the rule of strict liability in RCW 16.08.040: 

2) This section does not apply to the lawful application of
a police dog, as defined in RCW 4.24.410. 

RCW 16. 08.040(2). The amendment' s effective date was June 7, 2012, one

day after the Finches filed this lawsuit. 

The Finches argue that this amendment should be applied

prospectively only and not to this case, where the events giving rise to their

claims pre-date the amendment. To make this argument, the Finches offer a

conclusory declaration by Rep. Ann Rivers that " to the best of [ her] 

knowledge, the Legislature intended the amendment of RCW 16.08,040 to

4 A copy of SHB 2191 is attached to this brief as Appendix B. 
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operate prospectively." CP 278 -79. The Finches rely on this declaration

extensively, even though they concede that such statements by individual

legislators are not admissible to establish legislative intent. Appellants' Brief

at 18 ( citing Johnson v. Continental West, Inc., 99 Wn.2d 555, 560 -61, 663

P.3d 318 ( 2003)). 

As a threshold matter, Rep. Rivers' declaration does not establish

that the Legislature did not intend retroactive application of the amendment. 

The declaration addresses only the fact that the Legislature intended the

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